NO. 68544-9 I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JULIE BERRYMAN,

Respondent

V.

FARMERS INSURANCE COMPANY OF WASHINGTON,

Appellant

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT FARMERS INSURANCE COMPANY OF WASHINGTON

Nathaniel J. R. Smith, WSBA # 28302 Nancy K. McCoid, WSBA #13763 Attorneys for Appellant Farmers Insurance Company of Washington

SOHA & LANG, P.S.

1325 Fourth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98101

Telephone: (206) 624-1800 Facsimile No.: (206) 624-3585

ORIGINAL

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR AND ISSUES

A. Assignments of Error

First assignment of error: The trial court erred in applying the *Frye* test to Dr. Allan Tencer's testimony.

Second assignment of error: The trial court erred in excluding Dr. Tencer's uncontroverted expert testimony.

Third assignment of error: The trial court erred in denying the motion to reconsider the exclusion of Dr. Tencer's testimony.

Fourth assignment of error: The trial court erred in precluding Dr. Renninger from testifying based on Dr. Tencer's report.

Fifth assignment of error: The trial court erred in excluding photographs of the car plaintiff was driving at the time of the accident.

Sixth assignment of error: The trial court erred in excluding all defense testimony about the amount of force involved in the accident.

Seventh assignment of error: The trial court erred in continuing to exclude defense evidence on the force involved in the accident after plaintiff's witness erroneously stated that it was a "high impact" accident.

Eighth assignment of error: The trial court erred in substituting her personal opinion in place of expert testimony that the force involved could not have caused plaintiff's alleged injuries.

Ninth assignment of error: The trial court erred in denying Farmers'

motion for new trial.

Tenth assignment of error: The trial court erred in awarding attorney fees and costs of \$301,267, nearly 10 times the amount of the jury verdict.

Eleventh assignment of error: The trial court erred in calculating the lodestar and in using a multiplier instead of reducing the lodestar amount.

Twelfth assignment of error: The trial court erred in awarding attorney fees of \$300 per hour for both attorneys involved in the trial.

Thirteenth assignment of error: The trial court erred in awarding attorney fees and costs for unsuccessful and duplicative work.

Fourteenth Assignment of Error: The trial court erred in entering the following Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law regarding its award of attorney fees and costs (CP 901-906): Findings of Fact 1, 4, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 12, 13, and conclusions of Law: 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, and 11. The Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law are set out in full in Appendix I to this brief.

B. Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

Issue One: The court erred in substituting her personal opinion in place of expert testimony that the force involved could not have caused plaintiff's injuries. The court further erred in excluding Dr. Tencer's expert testimony under *Frye* because his opinions were within his area of expertise, based on the facts of the case, and did not involve novel methodology, and because plaintiff did not offer controverting evidence,

relying solely on the unsupported speculation of her counsel.

Assignments of error 1, 2, 3, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9

Issue Two: Precluding Dr. Renninger's expert medical testimony that plaintiff was not injured in the accident was an abuse of discretion, as was excluding photographs of the car and all reference to the minor force of impact in the accident. Excluding the evidence prevented the defense from putting on its damages case and unduly favored the plaintiff.

Assignments of error 2, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9

Issue Three: The court erred in awarding \$301,267 in attorney fees in a rear-end damages trial de novo case, allowing fees for duplicative, unnecessary, and unsuccessful work, and using a 2.0 multiplier instead of reducing the lodestar amount. The award is excessive and violates RPC 1.5.

Assignments of error 10, 11, 12, 13, 14

Issue Four: The trial court erred in denying the motion for new trial under Civil Rule 59(a)(1), (8), and (9) by applying the *Frye* test and by excluding all evidence and testimony about the amount of force involved in the accident even after plaintiff introduced false evidence of a "high impact" accident.

Assignments of error 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Background of the Case

This case arose from a low impact, three car collision. Plaintiff Julie Berryman was preparing to turn right into a driveway when the Chevrolet Caprice she was driving was bumped by a 1989 Dodge Caravan driven by uninsured driver Akeen Metcalf. RP 381. The Dodge was pushed into plaintiff's car by a Honda Accord driven by another uninsured driver, Jeffrey Walker. CP 2. The Dodge was not available for inspection, but the Chevy was extensively inspected and photographed. CP 209-210. The photographs show there was no damage to the hitch on the Chevy's bumper and very little—if any—other damage. CP 209, 252-257; 261. Plaintiff did not seek emergency attention after the accident. Her first post-accident "treatment" was a visit to her chiropractor two days later. RP 385.

Plaintiff sued the uninsured drivers, who did not appear in the action. Farmers, the underinsured motorist (UIM) insurer for the Chevy, intervened to assert the defenses that could have been asserted by the uninsured drivers. CP 9;14. Default orders were entered against the drivers and the case was transferred to mandatory arbitration. CP 17; 20.

After discovery, the case proceeded to arbitration where plaintiff was awarded \$35,724 in damages. CP 679. Farmers filed a request for a trial de novo. CP 27-32. Plaintiff made an offer of settlement of \$30,000

plus costs, which was not accepted. CP 624-625. Trial followed.

B. Defense Expert Dr. Allan Tencer

Defendant retained two experts to testify at trial, Dr. Allan Tencer and Dr. Thomas Renninger. Dr. Tencer's extensive qualifications as a biomechanical engineer were not challenged by plaintiff and have previously been recognized by the Court of Appeals. See, e.g., Ma'ele v. Arrington, 111 Wn. App. 537, 45 P.3d 557, 560 (2002). His qualifications are set out in detail in his declaration and resume. CP 326-327. In brief, Dr. Tencer has a doctorate in mechanical engineering. CP 329. He has been a professor in biomechanical engineering at the University of Washington (UW) School of Engineering for 23 years and also teaches in the medical school. CP 330. He has published extensive research relating to forces involved in low impact car accidents. CP 331. He has held federally funded grants for his research and has obtained a patent for auto designs. CP 331. His published work on rear-end accidents includes a biomechanical study of 432 accidents, a study of the seated position of 719 drivers, a study of the dynamics of vehicles in collisions and the forces generated, as well as many others. CP 331.

Dr. Tencer "completely inspected" the Chevy and determined there was no visible damage to the bumper, isolators, or trailer hitch. CP 209, 331. He also reviewed plaintiff's deposition and the police report and

obtained information about the weight of the vehicles involved. CP 330-332. Dr. Tencer then used standard engineering methodology to calculate the maximum speed change and acceleration of the Chevy and the resulting peak horizontal acceleration on plaintiff. CP 324. Based on this information he calculated the forces involved in the impact as having a "peak acceleration (or jolt) of about 3.1g or less", creating a "bending force during impact on Ms. Berryman's neck...in the range of 23 ft-lbs[.]" CP 208. Her lumbar "experienced about 1.6 g of horizontal acceleration from the seat back." Id. He concluded that the forces acting on Ms. Berryman's body in the accident were within the range of forces experienced in daily living. CP 208-10. Dr. Tencer did a second set of calculations to verify the accuracy of the assumptions used in calculating the forces in the impact. The second set of calculations confirmed the original findings. CP 324-325. Dr. Tencer emphasized that he used "standard engineering approaches," citing numerous supporting studies. CP 209.

Plaintiff moved to exclude Dr. Tencer's testimony, claiming it was speculative, outside his area of expertise, and based on "novel methodology." CP 177-193. Plaintiff did not offer any evidence that Dr. Tencer's methodology was novel. CP 177-193. She argued that he was not qualified to testify about the strength of the trailer hitch because he

had not done destructive testing on the hitch or designed trailer hitches himself. CP 189-190. She also argued that Dr. Tencer's opinions were speculative because "he did not have any information about the Dodge." However, plaintiff offered nothing to rebut Dr. Tencer's CP 189. testimony that relying on published standards and visual inspection are common engineering practice, or that he did not need information about the Dodge to determine the impact on the driver of the Chevy. CP 329. She similarly failed to offer any evidentiary support for her argument that Dr. Tencer was not qualified to testify about the maximum level of inward force of impact on trailer hitches. CP 190. As Dr. Tencer explained, he has over 20 years of engineering experience, has been involved in the fabrication of metal components, and is familiar with the forces metal components can handle and the meaning of standards such as the SAE (Society for Automotive Engineers) standard for hitches, which he used in his second set of calculations. CP 329. It was not necessary for him to personally test the hitch to perform his calculations. CP 328-9.

Despite the complete lack of support for plaintiff's motion to exclude Dr. Tencer, the motion was granted. A subsequent motion for reconsideration, further explaining that Dr. Tencer's work was based on accepted scientific methods, was not speculative, and was within his area of expertise as a biomechanical engineer, was denied. CP 310-33, 406.

The case was transferred to Judge Barnett for trial. She repeatedly refused to reconsider allowing Dr. Tencer to testify. See, e.g., RP 293, 427-8. Judge Barnett stated that she did not personally believe that the amount of force "had anything to do" with the level of injuries in an accident and added that "I am a firm believer—and always have been—that you cannot—one cannot surmise anything about personal injury from the state of the vehicle. You can total a vehicle and walk away from it or you can have a fender-bender and be injured." RP 191-192.

C. Defense Expert Dr. Thomas Renninger

Thomas Renninger, D.C., performed an independent medical examination of plaintiff. CP 939. He found there was no objective evidence that plaintiff was injured or needed treatment as a result of the accident. CP 939-940. He noted it was not a "significant accident." CP 939. Based solely on plaintiff's subjective complaints, Dr. Renninger stated that treatment for up to six weeks post-accident was the "upper limit of reasonable care." CP 940. He doubted that plaintiff was injured in the accident, and said he would reconsider his opinions if more information became available. CP 941.

Dr. Renninger was subsequently given Dr. Tencer's report and issued an addendum report on May 17, 2011. CP 991-994. The addendum states in part that "[a]fter reviewing the additional information

from Allan Tencer, PhD, in my opinion, Ms. Berryman did not sustain any injury as a result of the accident of February 24, 2007." CP 993. He noted that "ongoing complaints as of October 28, 2010 are not consistent with my understanding of the minor motor vehicle accident of February 24, 2007." CP 993. Dr. Renninger further stated that, on a more probable than not basis, plaintiff did not sustain any injury in the 2007 accident requiring treatment. CP 993.

Plaintiff moved to strike what she called Dr. Renninger's "new opinions," claiming that they were inadmissible because they were untimely. CP 909, 913. That motion was denied. CP 110. However, a subsequent motion in limine to exclude Dr. Renninger's "new opinions," made to a different judge, was granted¹. CP 366; RP 8, 20. Dr. Renninger was thus forced to testify as to an opinion he no longer held—that up to six weeks of treatment was reasonable—and was not allowed to testify that he did not believe that plaintiff was injured in the accident. He was also prevented from explaining why he thought plaintiff's years of chiropractic treatment were unnecessary. Had he been allowed to do so, he would have testified that there was insufficient force involved in the

¹ The case was originally assigned to Judge Cheryl Carey who decided most of the pre-trial motions. It was transferred to Judge Suzanne Barnett for trial. Judge Barnett decided the motions in limine and was the judge for trial and post-trial proceedings.

accident to cause the type of long-term injury claimed by plaintiff. CP 993-994.

Defense counsel argued to the court that Dr. Renninger considered the lack of damage to plaintiff's car in reaching his conclusions in the initial report, and that precluding any mention of the amount of force in the accident prevented Dr. Renninger from explaining the full basis for his opinions. RP 427-8. The judge declined to change her ruling, but acknowledged at the end of trial that her rulings precluded Dr. Renninger from testifying fully, stating that "[b]ased on those rulings Dr. Renninger was prohibited from testifying fully as he might have regarding the reasons for his opinions." RP 531-32.

While the defense was prevented from presenting any evidence about the force involved in the accident, plaintiff's chiropractors were free to testify about the relationship between the purported severity of the accident and the duration of injuries, and about the mechanics of a rearend accident and how it causes whiplash injuries. See, e.g., RP 532-574. The problem was exacerbated when, despite the Court's ruling on plaintiff's motion in limine, plaintiff's chiropractor, Perry Chinn, testified that "the primary cause" of plaintiff's injuries was "the high impact rear end accident..." RP 261. Defense counsel argued that Dr. Chinn's statement violated the motion in limine order, opening the door to

testimony about the amount of force actually involved in the impact. RP 290. The court rejected that argument and limited cross examination on the issue to what Dr. Chinn recalled plaintiff telling him about the accident. The Court did not offer a principled basis for her ruling, stating only that "maybe ten out of twelve jurors didn't hear [Dr. Chinn] say high impact..." RP 293. She added that she did not "want to go all over board, because then we have Dr. Ten[c]er back at issue. And, you know, I'm not bringing Dr. Ten[c]er in. We're not going into biomechanics, impact, force of impact, speed, vehicle damage." RP 293.

A second chiropractor called by plaintiff, Dr. Saggau, testified that it is important to know the mechanism of injury, and that she used the information about the accident from plaintiff in determining that plaintiff had a significant spinal injury. RP 346-347. She testified that plaintiff told her there were "loud screeching brakes, slam, and was hit…" RP 346-47. The misimpression of a significant impact was further enhanced by constant references to the low impact accident as a "car crash" by plaintiff and her counsel. (See, e.g. RP 381, 384-85, 387, 398-99, 401, 404). Despite plaintiff presenting this misleading testimony, defendant was still not allowed to present evidence that, contrary to plaintiff's claim, this was not a high impact accident, but instead involved no more force than encountered in "daily living." After hearing only plaintiff's

misleading version of the impact, the jury awarded \$36,542 to plaintiff of which half was for "past medical expenses." CP 562.

D. Attorney Fee Award

Plaintiff filed a post-trial motion for attorney fees and costs pursuant to MAR 7.3 and RCW 7.06. CP 626. She claimed to have incurred \$140,565 in attorney fees from the time the trial de novo was requested through the date of the verdict, and an additional \$11,950 in post-verdict fees. CP 627. She asked for a multiplier of 1.5–2.0 times the base lodestar fee of \$140,565 claiming this was a "high-risk, contingency fee" case. CP 627. The purported "high-risk" was that

This was a minor impact soft tissue injury case with no visible car damage and over \$18,000 in treatments mostly for chiropractic visits where Plaintiff's major complaint was subjective in nature. The very nature of the case further increases the risk of a successful outcome at trial.

.....Further making the case risky was the fact that Plaintiff's prior history, including her prior accidents and injuries further created an uncertainty about the likelihood of success."

CP 646-647. In other words, this was a questionable case, of dubious value, which plaintiff never estimated as being worth over the \$50,000 mandatory arbitration limit. One of plaintiff's attorneys acknowledged "the very real possibility" of a "defense verdict." CP 760. Nonetheless, plaintiff requested an attorney fee award of \$293,080 plus costs.

Defendant opposed the excessive fee request, arguing that there was

no need to have two attorneys present at all proceedings in this simple rear-end trial de novo, that spending 468 hours to prepare and try a four-day damages case that had already been presented at arbitration was excessive, and that the fee request included time that was duplicative or spent on unsuccessful motions such as an ill-conceived effort to obtain Farmers' UIM claims file and to depose the UIM claims representative, even though this was not a bad faith case. CP 812-849. Defendant presented a detailed list of the duplicative time, including annotated copies of the time records pointing out duplicative, excessive, and unsuccessful time. CP 840-850. Defendant also argued that a multiplier was inappropriate because the case was not unusually difficult, controversial, or otherwise complex.

The fee request was more than eight times the amount of the verdict, and excessive on its face. Nonetheless, the court awarded the amount requested, including a 2.0 multiplier. CP 901, 906.

E. Motion for New Trial

Defendant filed a post-trial motion for a new trial under Civil Rule 59, arguing that excluding all evidence and testimony about the amount of force involved in the accident, even after plaintiff introduced false evidence of a "high impact" accident, was erroneous as a matter of law and prejudicial to the defense. CP 796. The motion also argued that it

was error to invoke the *Frye* test to exclude Dr. Tencer's testimony because his methodology was not novel and because there was no evidence contradicting Dr. Tencer's expert testimony that his methods were used and accepted in the relevant scientific community. CP 801. The trial court denied the motion for new trial without hearing or explanation, even though plaintiff had not opposed the motion. CP 898.

III. ARGUMENT

ISSUE ONE: The court erred in substituting her personal opinion in place of expert testimony that the force involved could not have caused plaintiff's injuries. The court further erred in excluding Dr. Tencer's testimony under *Frye* because his opinions were within his area of expertise, based on the facts of the case, and did not involve novel methodology, and because plaintiff did not offer controverting evidence, relying solely on the unsupported speculation of her counsel.

The Court's ruling excluding Dr. Tencer's testimony should be reversed, and the case remanded for retrial, because the court erred as a matter of law in excluding the testimony. The standard of review for a *Frye* ruling is de novo, with the trial court's ruling given no deference. *State v. Kunze*, 97 Wn. App. 832, 854, 988 P.2d 977 (1998); *State v. Gregory*, 158 Wn.2d 759, 830, 147 P.3d 1201, 1239 (2006). The standard of review for other evidentiary rulings is abuse of discretion. *Mayer v. Sto Indus., Inc.*, 156 Wn.2d 677, 684, 132 P.3d 115 (2006). The trial court abuses its discretion when its decision is manifestly unreasonable, or exercised on untenable grounds, or for untenable reasons. *Id.*

A. The Trial Judge Improperly Relied on Her Personal Belief, Rather Than the Evidence, in Excluding All Evidence Relating to the Minimal Force Involved in the Accident

The trial judge based her decision to exclude defense evidence that the minimal force involved in the accident could not have caused plaintiff's alleged injuries on her personal opinion rather than on the evidence submitted in court. RP 192. Judge Barnett's personal opinion about "the state of the vehicle" is irrelevant. There is no indication in the record that the judge is qualified to testify on the relationship between the damage to the vehicle, the force involved in the accident, and plaintiff's injuries. Her role was to rule based on the evidence presented by the parties, not on her personal belief.

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