F	U	1:4.4.9
F		

No. 68544-9

#### COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JULIE BERRYMAN,

Respondent,

VS.

FARMERS INSURANCE COMPANY OF WASHINGTON,

Appellant.

#### APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY THE HONORABLE SUZANNE M. BARNETT

#### BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

By: Howard M. Goodfriend WSBA No. 14355 Ian C. Cairns WSBA No. 43210

1109 First Avenue, Suite 500 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 624-0974 PREMIER LAW GROUP PLLC

By: Patrick J. Kang WSBA No. 30726 Jason Epstein WSBA No. 31779

3380 146<sup>th</sup> PI. SE, Suite 430 Bellevue, WA 98007 (206) 285-1743



Attorneys for Respondent

##

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

*this* case. (CP 237) Neither Judge Carey nor Judge Barnett abused her discretion by concluding that Tencer was not qualified to testify in *this* case.

Farmers failed to preserve any objection to testimony from Berryman's experts about a "high impact" accident or "loud screeching brakes." (App. Br. at 28-29) Farmers did not object when these statements were made. (RP 261, 346-47) Farmers also failed to request a curative instruction after this testimony, even though Berryman's counsel suggested one. (RP 294) Farmers cannot complain about an error that it failed to give the trial court an opportunity to correct. Breimon v. General Motors Corp., 8 Wn. App. 747, 757, 509 P.2d 398 (1973) (admitting challenged testimony was not prejudicial error where party failed to timely object or request curative instruction it would have been entitled to); RAP 2.5(a). Likewise, Farmers waived any complaint regarding Berryman's rebuttal testimony because it did not object to this testimony on the grounds it now asserts on appeal. (App. Br. 29 citing RP 532-574)

Even had Farmers properly preserved this argument, it fails to demonstrate how the trial court abused its discretion in finding

that the testimony did not prejudice Farmers. "Trial courts have broad discretionary powers in conducting a trial and dealing with irregularities that arise." *Kimball v. Otis Elevator Co.*, 89 Wn. App. 169, 178, 947 P.2d 1275 (1997). The trial court found that the passing statement about "high impact" was unnoticed by the majority of the jury. (RP 293) Berryman's counsel suggested a corrective instruction to cure any prejudice (RP 294), but Farmers apparently did not believe that the testimony was prejudicial enough to require an instruction.

Judge Carey did not abuse her discretion in excluding Tencer's testimony as speculative. The trial court did not abuse her discretion in refusing to reconsider this ruling.

> 2. Judge Carey Properly Excluded Tencer's Testimony Under *Frye* Because His Method Of Visually Inspecting A Trailer Hitch To Determine The Maximum Force It Can Withstand Is Novel And Not Generally Accepted Within The Scientific Community.

The trial court did not err in excluding Tencer's testimony under *Frye v. United States*, 54 App.D.C. 46, 293 F. 1013 (App.

D.C. 1923).<sup>2</sup> Tencer based his testimony on a visual inspection of Berryman's car, without testing the trailer hitch and without determining who manufactured the trailer hitch at issue in this case. This methodology is novel and has not been generally accepted by the scientific community.

Washington courts apply the *Frye* standard when scientific evidence is challenged as novel. *State v. Canaday*, 90 Wn.2d 808, 585 P.2d 1185 (1978) (adopting *Frye* test for determining admissibility of scientific evidence). The standard is whether "(1) the scientific theory or principle upon which the evidence is based has gained general acceptance in the relevant scientific community of which it is a part; and (2) there are generally accepted methods of applying the theory or principle in a manner capable of producing reliable results." *State v. Sipin*, 130 Wn. App. 403, 414, ¶ 28, 123 P.3d 862 (2005). Appellate courts are not limited to the trial record when reviewing *Frye* determinations and may review "scientific

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> This court does not need to analyze Tencer's testimony under the standard for admission of expert testimony under *Frye*, if it affirms the discretionary exclusion of Tencer's testimony as speculative and outside his area of expertise under ER 702 and 703.

literature as well as secondary legal authority before rendering a decision." 130 Wn. App. at 414, ¶ 27.

Visual inspection of vehicles "is not a generally accepted method in any relevant field of engineering or under the laws of physics." *Clemente v. Blumenberg*, 183 Misc.2d 923, 705 N.Y.S.2d 792, 800 (1999) (excluding testimony of biomechanical engineer based on photographs of the vehicle); *Whiting v. Coultrip*, 324 ill. App.3d 161, 755 N.E.2d 494, 499 (2001) (excluding testimony of biomechanical engineer because "[t]here is no evidence in the record that use of photographs and repair estimates is a generally accepted method in the field of engineering for determining G-forces"); *Tittsworth v. Robinson*, 252 Va. 151, 475 S.E.2d 261, 263 (Va. 1996) (rejecting biomechanical engineer's reliance solely on photographs to determine damage to

vehicles).<sup>3</sup> Judge Carey correctly held that Tencer's "visual inspection" methodology, which is not materially different from analyzing photographs, was not an accepted scientific method for determining the maximum force materials can withstand.

As the Supreme Court has acknowledged, *Frye* analysis is necessarily case-by-case, and even where a theory has been accepted in one case, it may be rejected in another distinct context. *See State v. Riker*, 123 Wn.2d 351, 869 P.2d 43 (1994) (recognizing general acceptance of battered woman syndrome but rejecting its use in context other than that of a battering relationship). The fact that in another case an appellate court stated that Tencer's "work on low-speed collisions is generally accepted in the scientific community," therefore, does not establish that Tencer's testimony was proper in this case. (App. Br. 19, citing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See also M. Robbins, Lack of Relationship Between Vehicle Damage and Occupant Injury, SAE Technical Paper 970494 (1997); Arthur Croft and Michael Freeman, Correlating crash severity with injury risk, injury severity, and long-term symptoms in low velocity motor vehicle collisions, 11 Medical Science Monitor 316, 320 (2005) ("the level of vehicle property damage appears to be an invalid construct for injury presence, severity, or duration"); CG Davis, *Rear-end impacts: vehicle and occupant response*, 21 Journal Manipulative Physiological Therapeutics 629 (1998); Arthur Croft, Low Speed Rear Impact Collisions: In Search of an Injury Threshold, 4 Journal of Musculoskeletal Pain 39 (1996).

*Ma'ele v. Arrington*, 111 Wn. App. 557, 563, 45 P.3d 557 (2002)) Tencer's testimony was rightly rejected here because Farmers failed to establish that Tencer's method of visual inspection can establish the strength of a trailer hitch, a different issue than that involved in *Ma'ele*. Likewise, Farmers failed to establish that the SAE standard establishing the minimum strength required of a trailer hitch is sufficient to establish its maximum strength.

Farmers erroneously relies on the court's analysis of SAE standards in a case in which the plaintiff did "not contend that [the expert's] test fails to comply with this SAE standard." *Moore v. Harley-Davidson Motor Co. Group, Inc.*, 158 Wn. App. 407, 423, ¶ 34, 241 P.3d 808 (2010) *rev. denied*, 171 Wn.2d 1009 (2011). (App. Br. 22-23) By contrast, here Berryman challenged Tencer's testimony precisely because it did not comply with the SAE standard and conflated the minimum and maximum forces that a trailer hitch could withstand. Thus, *Moore* is inapposite. This court should affirm the trial court's exclusion of Tencer's testimony under *Frye*.

#### 3. The Trial Court Properly Excluded Renninger's Testimony About The Force Of The Accident And Photographs Of The Accident.

Because the trial court correctly excluded Tencer's testimony, the trial court did not abuse its discretion by refusing to allow Farmers to introduce Tencer's conclusions through Dr. Renninger. Likewise, it did not abuse its discretion in excluding photographs of the accident.

The trial court's evidentiary decisions are reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Cole v. Harveyland, LLC*, 163 Wn. App. 199, 213, ¶ 33, 258 P.3d 70 (2011). The trial court did not abuse its discretion by prohibiting Dr. Renninger from testifying about Tencer's conclusions that had already been excluded. Judge Carey had already found that testimony speculative and unreliable. It did not become unspeculative and reliable simply because it was coming from Dr. Renninger rather than Tencer.

Likewise, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in excluding photographs of Berryman's car after the accident. "The admission or rejection of photographs lies in the sound discretion of the trial court." **Toftoy v. Ocean Shores Properties, Inc.**, 71 Wn.2d 833, 836, 431 P.2d 212 (1967). The trial court was uniquely

positioned to decide whether the prejudicial impact of the photographs outweighed their probative value. The photographs supported the erroneous inference that severity of vehicle damage necessarily correlates to the severity of injury. *See, e.g., Whiting v. Coultrip*, 324 III. App. 3d 161, 755 N.E.2d 494, 499 (2001); M. Robbins, *Lack of Relationship Between Vehicle Damage and Occupant Injury*, SAE Technical Paper 970494 (1997). The trial court did not abuse its discretion by limiting Dr. Renninger's testimony or by excluding photographs of the accident.

#### 4. Tencer's Testimony Would Have Been Cumulative Of Dr. Renninger's Testimony And Its Exclusion Did Not Prejudice Farmers.

"[E]videntiary error is grounds for reversal only if it results in prejudice." *In re Detention of Mines*, 165 Wn. App. 112, 128, ¶ 31, 266 P.3d 242 (2011) (quotation omitted), *rev. denied*, 173 Wn.2d 1032 (2012). Neither Judge Carey's nor the trial court's evidentiary decisions prejudiced Farmers. Tencer's proposed testimony would have been cumulative of Renninger's testimony. This court should affirm because Farmers has not demonstrated prejudice.

"The exclusion of evidence which is cumulative or has speculative probative value is not reversible error." Havens v. C & D Plastics, Inc., 124 Wn.2d 158, 169-70, 876 P.2d 435 (1994). "The evidence need not be identical to that which is admitted; instead, harmless error, if error at all, results where evidence is excluded which is, in substance, the same as other evidence which 124 Wn.2d at 170. Washington courts have is admitted." repeatedly found that the erroneous exclusion of evidence is harmless error where that evidence was cumulative of admitted evidence. Havens, 124 Wh.2d at 170-71; Miller v. Arctic Alaska Fisheries Corp., 133 Wn 2d 250, 262, 944 P.2d 1005 (1997); Hendrickson v. King County, 101 Wn. App. 258, 269, 2 P.3d 1006 (2000); see generally Dennis J. Sweeney, An Analysis of Harmless Error in Washington: A Principled Process, 31 Gonz. L. Rev. 277 (1996).

Here, Tencer's testimony would have been cumulative of Dr. Renninger's testimony. Tencer planned to testify that the force of the accident was not enough to cause Berryman's injury. (CP 208) But Renninger testified that there was no objective basis for Berryman's complaints of an injury related to the car accident and

that he did not believe her subjective complaints of pain. (RP 454, 457-58, 471-72, 476; *see also* App. Br. 26) He repeatedly testified that he did not think the accident caused Berryman a "significant injury," that she may have needed no treatment at all, and that her years of chiropractic treatment were unrelated to the accident. (RP 451-52, 456, 458, 461, 471-72, 484-85, 491, 496-97, 505, 516-17, 519; CP 498-99) Indeed, the trial court denied Berryman's motion that as a matter of law she was entitled to damages for six weeks of medical expenses because, as Farmers argued, there was evidence from which the jury could find that Berryman did not need any treatment after the accident. (RP 531) This testimony – all of which supported Farmers' argument that Berryman was not injured in the accident and did not need treatment – is cumulative of Tencer's testimony that Berryman was not injured in the accident.

#### 5. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion By Denying Farmers A New Trial Because Exclusion Of Tencer's Testimony Was Proper.

Appellate courts review a trial court's decision to deny a new trial for abuse of discretion. *A.C. ex rel. Cooper v. Bellingham Sch. Dist.*, 125 Wn. App. 511, 521, 105 P.3d 400 (2004). Farmers

moved for a new trial based entirely on the exclusion of Tencer's and Renninger's testimony regarding the force of the impact. An evidentiary decision that falls within the range of the trial court's broad discretion is not grounds for a new trial under CR 59. *Toftoy v. Ocean Shores Properties, Inc.*, 71 Wn.2d 833, 836, 431 P.2d 212 (1967). Because the trial court correctly excluded Farmers' expert evidence as speculative, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Farmers' motion for a new trial.

.

#### B. The Trial Court Properly Awarded Berryman Attorney Fees And Did Not Abuse Its Discretion In Setting The Amount Of Fees Or Applying A Contingency Multiplier.

The trial court correctly awarded Berryman her attorney fees under MAR 7.3 and RCW 7.06.060 because Farmers failed to improve its position at the trial de novo. (CP 902-06) This court reviews the trial court's attorney fee award for abuse of discretion. *Chuong Van Pham v. City of Seattle, Seattle City Light*, 159 Wn.2d 527, 538, ¶ 16, 151 P.3d 976 (2007). The trial court did not abuse its discretion in its lodestar analysis by finding that the hours worked by Berryman's counsel were reasonable in light of Farmers' aggressive litigation tactics during the trial de novo. (FF 6, CP 904) Nor did the trial court abuse its discretion by applying a 2.0 multiplier where Berryman's attorneys' hourly rate of \$300 failed to compensate them for the substantial risk of not receiving any compensation for their representation. (FF 7, 11, 12, CL 5, CP 904-06) This court should court should affirm the trial court's award of fees and its application of a multiplier.

MAR 7.3 is "a broad warning that one who asks for a trial de novo, and thereafter suffers a judgment for a greater amount than the arbitration award, will be liable for attorneys fees." *Cormar, Ltd. v. Sauro*, 60 Wn. App. 622, 624, 806 P.2d 253 (1991) *rev. denied*, 117 Wn.2d 1004.<sup>4</sup> "The purpose of the attorney fee award under MAR 7.3 is to discourage meritless appeals of arbitration awards, to reduce delay in hearing civil cases, and to relieve court congestion." *Yoon v. Keeling*, 91 Wn. App. 302, 305, 956 P.2d 1116 (1998); *see also Fiore v. PPG Indus., Inc.*, \_\_\_ Wn. App. \_\_\_, ¶

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> MAR 7.3 states, "The court shall assess costs and reasonable attorney fees against a party who appeals the award and fails to improve the party's position on the trial de novo." RCW 7.06.060 states, "The superior court shall assess costs and reasonable attorneys' fees against a party who appeals the award and fails to improve his or her position on the trial de novo." RCW 7.06.050 states, "In any case in which an offer of compromise is not accepted by the appealing party within ten calendar days after service thereof, for purposes of MAR 7.3, the amount of the offer of compromise shall replace the amount of the arbitrator's award for determining whether the party appealing the arbitrator's award has failed to improve that party's position on the trial de novo."

54, 279 P.3d 972 (2012) (Legislature intended to "discourag[e] appeals from arbitration decisions"). A party that appeals an arbitrator's award "place[s] a burden on the court system and cause[s] [the opposing party] to incur costs and attorney fees." **Yoon**, 91 Wn. App. at 306. "The appellant can avoid the assessment of attorney fees by not bringing a meritless appeal." **Christie-Lambert Van & Storage Co., Inc. v. McLeod**, 39 Wn. App. 298, 308, 693 P.2d 161 (1984). The term "position" in MAR 7.3 "was meant to be understood by ordinary people who, if asked whether their position had been improved following a trial de novo, would certainly answer 'no' in the face of a Superior Court judgment against them for more than the arbitrator awarded." **Cormar, Ltd.**, 60 Wn. App. at 623.<sup>5</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Farmers states in passing that it improved its position at the trial de novo, citing its trial brief (App. Br. 31), but provides no argument to this court how Farmers improved its position when the jury awarded Berryman \$6,542 more than her offer of comprise that Farmers rejected. (*Compare* CP 562 *with* CP 624-25) Washington appellate courts "do not permit litigants to use incorporation by reference as a means to argue on appeal or to escape the page limits for briefs set forth in RAP 10.4(b)." *Diversified Wood Recycling, Inc. v. Johnson*, 161 Wn. App. 859, 890, ¶ 75, 251 P.3d 293 (2011), *rev. denied*, 172 Wn.2d 1025. Thus, Farmers has waived any argument regarding whether it improved its position at the trial de novo. *In re Marriage of Fahey*, 164 Wn. App. 42, 59, ¶ 34, 262 P.3d 128 (2011) *review denied*, 173 Wn.2d 1019 (2012) ("We do not address arguments that are not supported by cited authorities.").

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